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Mary Eckel Ruplin: [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜΩǎ First Born? 
 
²ƘŜƴ aŀǊȅ 9ŎƪŜƭ wǳǇƭƛƴ ŘƛŜŘ ƛƴ bƻǾŜƳōŜǊ мфпрΣ ǘƘŜ ǇŀƎŜ м ƘŜŀŘƭƛƴŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊȅ ǊŜŀŘΥ άaǊǎΦ aŀǊȅ 
wǳǇƭƛƴΣ CƛǊǎǘ ²ƘƛǘŜ DƛǊƭ .ƻǊƴ Lƴ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜΣ 5ƛŜǎΦέ ¢ƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǎŜƴǘŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜ ǎǘŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ aŀǊȅ άǿŀǎ 
the ŦƛǊǎǘ ǿƘƛǘŜ ŎƘƛƭŘ ōƻǊƴ ƛƴ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜΦέ If only it were so. 
 
What becomes the history that we think we know when historical evidence is fragmentary, entirely 
missing, or even contradictory? Lack of primary source evidence sometimes allows unsubstantiated 
claims to become the history we read.  
 
aŀǊȅ 9ŎƪŜƭ wǳǇƭƛƴΩǎ ǎǘƻǊȅΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘǳŀƭ όǿŜ ǘƘƛƴƪύ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŎƘƛƭŘ ōƻǊƴ ƛƴ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜΣ ƛǎ ŀ 
complicated tale involving two pioneer families in La Crosse history.  
 
In November 1841, an 18-year-old from New York named Nathan Myrick, accompanied by Eben Weld, 
built a log cabin on Barron Island (current home to Pettibone Park) to serve as a trading post with the 
Native Americans. It was the first permanent white presence in what would later become the city of La 
Crosse.1  
 
During the winter, Myrick and Weld decided that the east side of the river would be a better location for 
their trading post. They dragged logs across the frozen river and used them the following spring to build 
ŀ Ŏŀōƛƴ ŀǘ ǿƘŀǘ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ άǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ƻŦ CǊƻƴǘ ŀƴŘ {ǘŀǘŜ ǎǘǊŜŜǘǎΦέ2 Thus was born Prairie La 
Crosse, and eventually, the city of La Crosse. 
 
While on a visit back to his home in New York in 1843, Nathan Myrick married Rebecca Ismon.3 While on 
a visit back to his home in New York in 1843, Nathan Myrick married Rebecca Ismon. Their first child was 
a son born in 1844, but the boy died in 1845 and was buried in La Crosse; his remains were later 
reinterred in what became Oak Grove Cemetery. In October 1847, Nathan and Rebecca Myrick became 
parents of twins. But none of these children were born in La Crosse; they were born in Prairie du Chien. 
The older town down the river was the county seat of Crawford County, which at that time 
encompassed what is now La Crosse County. It was also the place where the traders and explorers, 
including Nathan Myrick, obtained their supplies.4 
 
The last name of the first child born in Prairie La Crosse was not Myrick, and not Eckel; it was Miller.  
 
After Eben Weld left for other opportunities in Minnesota, Nathan Myrick formed a business partnership 
in early 1842 with a fur-trading acquaintance named Harmon J. B. όά{Ŏƻƻǘǎέύ Miller.5  
 
When Nathan and Rebecca Myrick had traveled to La Crosse from New York after their marriage in 1843, 
they brought along Louisa Pearson. Pearson made the journey to visit some relatives in Illinois, but she 
ended up going all the way to La Crosse and spending the winter with Mr. and Mrs. Myrick.6 Louisa was 
wŜōŜŎŎŀ aȅǊƛŎƪΩǎ ŎƻǳǎƛƴΦ7 Rebecca Myrick and Louisa Pearson were the first white women to live in La 
Crosse. When spring came, Pearson went back to Illinois. In 1844, Harmon J. B. Miller took a trip to 
Galena, Illinois, and returned to La Crosse with his new bride, Louisa Pearson.8 
 
According an 1881 history of La Crosse County, the first birth in La Crosse, in муптΣ άwas a daughter to 
ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƻŦ IΦ WΦ .Φ aƛƭƭŜǊΣ ƴŀƳŜŘ aŀǊǘƘŀΦέ9 [ƻǳƛǎŜ tŀǊǊȅΣ aŀǊǘƘŀΩǎ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊΣ ƭŀǘŜǊ ǎŀƛŘ it was written in 
their family Bible that her mother was born in Prairie du Chien, not La Crosse. It also showed Harmon 
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ŀƴŘ [ƻǳƛǎŀΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŎƘƛƭŘΣ LǊǿƛƴ ƻǊ LǊǾƛƴŜΣ ǿƘƻ ƘŀŘ ŘƛŜŘ ƛƴ ƛƴŦŀƴŎȅ ƛƴ Lƭƭƛƴƻƛǎ ƛƴ мупсΦ10 Martha (Miller) 
tŀǊǊȅΩǎ ƻōƛǘǳŀǊȅ ǎǘŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǎƘŜ ǿŀǎ ōƻǊƴ ƛƴ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜ ƛƴ муптΦ11 Her death certificate, however, shows 
that she was born in Fond du Lac, Wisconsin, on October 20, 1847. The person who supplied this 
information was her daughter, Louise Parry.12 One wonders if Louise had forgotten about the family 
.ƛōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƻƭŘ ǘƘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊǘŀƪŜǊ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜǊ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ birthplace had been a three-part, French-sounding 
name in Wisconsin. Then the undertaker looked at a map or list of cities in Wisconsin and saw Fond du 
Lac first. We can only speculate. 
 

 
 

(Sanford & Hirshheimer, A History of La Crosse, Wisconsin 1841-1900, page 23) 
 
The 1850 federal census shows Harmon J. B. Miller, then 45 years old, farming at Bad Axe in the present-
day Vernon County. His wife, Louisa, was 27 years old, and daughter, Martha, born in Wisconsin, was 
three years old.13 
 
Myrick and Miller, ŀǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ǎŜǘǘƭŜǊǎ ƻŦ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜΣ ǿŜǊŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ Ƴƻǎǘ ǘƘŜ άŦƛǊǎǘǎέ ǊŜŎƻǊŘŜŘ ŀǘ 
tǊŀƛǊƛŜ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜΦ aƛƭƭŜǊ ōǳƛƭǘ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǘǿƻ ƘƻǘŜƭǎ ƛƴ мурмΣ άŀ ǘǿƻ-story log and frame house, at 
CǊƻƴǘ ŀƴŘ {ǘŀǘŜ ǎǘǊŜŜǘǎΣ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ǘƘŜ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜ ƘƻǳǎŜΦέ aƛƭƭŜǊΩǎ Ŧarm was located at the former site of the 
La Crosse Country Club on the east side of the city at the base of the bluffs. Harmon J. B. Miller died in 
1862, at the age of 56, and is buried in Oak Grove Cemetery.14 
 
άIŜǊƳŀƴ WΦ .Φ aƛƭƭŜǊΣέ рл ȅŜŀǊǎ ƻƭŘΣ ƛǎ ƛƴ ǘhe 1860 federal census living alone in La Crosse.15 The age 
recorded by the census taker is inconsistent with his birth year (1806) given in a La Crosse Tribune article 
on October 9, 1949, and the plaque on his gravestone in Oak Grove Cemetery. 
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Harmon and Louisa Miller apparently separated ōŜŎŀǳǎŜ aŀǊǘƘŀ όaƛƭƭŜǊύ tŀǊǊȅΩǎ ƻōƛǘǳŀǊȅ ǎǘŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ 
aŀǊǘƘŀ άŎǊƻǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ǉƭŀƛƴǎ ƛƴ муроέ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǿŀȅ ǘƻ /ŀƭƛŦƻǊƴƛŀ.16 Louise Parry, her daughter, claimed in 
the October 9, 1949, La Crosse Tribune article that her grandmother and mother made the trip to 
California together.17 The 1881 history of La Crosse County mentioned that Martha Miller lived in Illinois 
at some time.18  If Louisa and Harmon Miller separated after just a few years of marriage, it would make 
sense for Louisa to go to Illinois first because she had relatives there. 
 

 
 

(Sanford & Hirshheimer, A History of La Crosse, Wisconsin 1841-1900, page 58) 
 
Louisa (Pearson) Miller and daughter Martha Miller journeyed to California with some friends to visit 
LouisaΩǎ brother in California. They must have liked it there because they stayed in California.19   
 
On August 10, 1869, Martha Miller married George Parry (1834-1927) in Butte County, California.20 
George was a carpenter who had been born in Pennsylvania.21 They lived in Chico, California, before 
moving to Redlands, California, in 1902. After a brief stay in Redlands, they moved to Los Angeles in 
мфлоΦ aŀǊǘƘŀ tŀǊǊȅ ǿŀǎ ŀŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǿƻƳŜƴΩǎ ǎǳŦŦǊŀƎŜ ƳƻǾŜment and the ²ƻƳŀƴΩǎ /ƘǊƛǎǘƛŀƴ 
Temperance Union. !ǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ aŀǊǘƘŀΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΣ ǘƘŜȅ ǿŜǊŜ ƭƛǾƛƴƎ ŀǘ нор bƻǊǘƘ {ƻǘƻ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ƛƴ [ƻǎ 
Angeles.22  
 
Martha (Miller) Parry, the first white child supposedly born in La Crosse, died on June 10, 1917, at the 
age of 69. She was buried in Evergreen Cemetery in Los Angeles, California.23 
 
While living in northern California, Martha Parry had her only child, a daughter named Louise. Louise 
Parry, then living in Los Angeles, visited La Crosse in October 1949. Miss Parry was the only descendant 
of Harmon J. B. Miller.24 She was a teacher in a public school.25 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Chico,_California
https://socialwelfare.library.vcu.edu/religious/womens-christian-temperance-union/
https://socialwelfare.library.vcu.edu/religious/womens-christian-temperance-union/
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aŀǊǘƘŀ aƛƭƭŜǊ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ŀǊƻǳƴŘ ǘƻ ŘƛǎǇǳǘŜ ǘƘŜ ŎƭŀƛƳ ƻŦ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ άŦƛǊǎǘ ōƻǊƴέ who lived in La Crosse most of 
her long life---Mary Eckel Ruplin.  
Adam Eckel was born in Hamburg, Germany, on June 24, 1824. When he was sixteen years old in 1840, 
Eckel emigrated to the United States. He settled in Pittsburgh where he met Mary Lais, and they were 
married in 1851.26 His bride was born in Spielburg, Germany, on May 27, 1827.27 
 
Most modern couples take a honeymoon trip after their marriage, but Mr. and Mrs. Eckel took a trip by 
boat in 1851 to La Crosse, Wisconsin, where they were among the early settlers in a village situated on a 
sand prairie on what could be characterized as the western frontier.28 In November of 1851, La Crosse 
ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘŜŘ ƻŦ άǎŜǾŜƴǘŜŜƴ ŘǿŜƭƭƛƴƎǎ ŀƴŘ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎΦέ29 The population of the village of La Crosse 
was only 285 people.30 
 
Just months later, on March 1, 1852, their first child, a daughter also named Mary, was born. At the time 
of her birth, the Eckel family lived in the only frame house in Prairie La Crosse.31  
 
The Eckel family later claimed that young Mary was the first child born in La Crosse, and this was 
repeated in several newspaper articles in the 1900s.  
 
Martha Miller would have been about five years old at that time, and it is hard to believe that the Eckel 
family did not know about her in such a small community. But, if Louisa Miller and her daughter, 
Martha, really did go to California in 1853, and maybe Illinois even before that, any acquaintance may 
have been fleeting or nonexistent. Her father, Harmon Miller was still in La Crosse until his death in 
1862. After that, the first claim (found by the author) about Mary Eckel being first born in La Crosse was 
made more than 40 years later. 
 
La Crosse already had a hotel, the Augusta House, but Adam Eckel built another one just a short distance 
away. The Eckel family lived in the hotel along with boarders who were some of the prominent men in 
early La Crosse---Taylor, Levy, Rose, and Losey. The hotel was one of about 36 buildings destroyed in a 
massive downtown fire in March 1862. In a 1932 interview, Mary (Eckel) Ruplin, who was just shy of ten 
years old at the time of the fire, said: άI believe I was one of the first to notice the fire. There was a 
blizzard raging, and as I looked out of the hotel window, I saw the August (sic) House on fire. I 
summoned my father, who was one of the officials of the old [fire] brigade organization, and the alarm 
ǿŀǎ ǎƻǳƴŘŜŘΦέ32 

 
The fire started in the Augusta House about 5:00 p.m. on March 18, 1862. What were described as gale-
force winds fanned the flames for five hours as they consumed building after building in downtown La 
Crosse.33 Five acres of businesses in the area of Pearl and Front streets were just ashes the next 
ƳƻǊƴƛƴƎΣ ŀƳƻƴƎ ǘƘŜƳ !ŘŀƳ 9ŎƪŜƭǎΩǎ !ƳŜǊƛŎŀƴ IƻǳǎŜ ƘƻǘŜƭ. It was the worst catastrophe in La Crosse 
up to that time.34 
 
The Eckel family had lost their home as well as their business. Fortunately for them, Adam Eckel owned 
a house at 2nd and Jay streets where they lived after the fire.35 
 
Adam Eckel was the alderman for the Second Ward in the city of La Crosse in 1864.36 
 
By 1868, Adam Eckel was back in business as the owner of the La Crosse and Alma Stage Company. They 
were then living at 14 South 2nd Street.37   The 1870 census lists his occupation as teamster. By this time, 
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Adam and Mary Eckel had five children: Mary, Henry, John, Minnie, and Alfred.38 The 1873 city directory 
shows his occupation as blacksmith and residence as 44 South 2nd Street.39 He had the same address (2nd 
and Jay streets) and the occupation in 1876, and he was listed as a teamster in 1878.40  His address and 
occupation was the same two years later in 1880.41 
 
Adam Eckel had moved to 808 South 5th Street by 1885. Adam was still working as a teamster.42 His 
occupation and address were the same in 188843 and 1890.44 He still lived at 808 South 5th Street in 
муфрΣ ōǳǘ Ƙƛǎ ƻŎŎǳǇŀǘƛƻƴ ƘŀŘ ŎƘŀƴƎŜŘ ǘƻ άŘŜŀƭŜǊ ƛƴ ŦƻǊŜǎǘ ǘǊŜŜǎΦέ45 Mary (Eckel) Ruplin said her father 
ǇƭŀƴǘŜŘ ǘǊŜŜǎ ƛƴ Ƴŀƴȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƛǘȅΩǎ ǇŀǊƪǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŎǊŜŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ŀǊŜŀǎΦ46 
 
The 1900 Federal Census shows Adam and Mary Eckel owning the house at 808 South 5th Street (later 
Fifth Avenue) and Adam still working as a day laborer at the age of 75. Their daughter and son-in-law, 
Mary and Jacob Ruplin and their six children, were living with them.47 aŀǊȅ ŀƴŘ WŀŎƻōΩǎ son, Fred, plus 
his wife and young daughter, were living in the house too.48 
 

 
 

808 5th Avenue South 
 

Four generations of the Eckel family lived in this house in 1900; it is now subdivided into three 
apartments 
 

(Photo by Jeff Rand, 2022 April 29) 
 
Adam Eckel died on February 21, 1905, after being ill just a few days with influenza that progressed to 
ǇƴŜǳƳƻƴƛŀΦ .ŜǎƛŘŜǎ WƻƘƴ aΦ [ŜǾȅΣ 9ŎƪŜƭ ǿŀǎ ǎŀƛŘ ǘƻ ōŜ άǘƘŜ ƻƭŘŜǎǘ ǎŜǘǘƭŜǊ ƛƴ [ŀ /ǊƻǎǎŜ ώǎǘƛƭƭ ǊŜǎƛŘƛƴƎ ƛƴ 
ǘƘŜ ŎƛǘȅϐΦέ ! ǎǳō-headline in the newspaper stŀǘŜŘΥ ά²ŀǎ CŀǘƘŜǊ ƻŦ CƛǊǎǘ ²ƘƛǘŜ /ƘƛƭŘ 9ǾŜǊ .ƻǊƴ ƛƴ [ŀ 
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/ǊƻǎǎŜΦέ [ŀǘŜǊ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜ ƛǎ ǘƘƛǎ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘΥ ά5ŜŎŜŀǎŜŘ was the father of the first white child born in La 
/ǊƻǎǎŜΣ aǊǎΦ WΦ wǳǇƭƛƴΦέ IŜ ǿŀǎ ǎǳǊǾƛǾŜŘ ōȅ Ƙƛǎ ǿƛŦŜΣ ǘǿƻ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǘǿƻ ǎƻƴǎΦ49 His funeral was in 
the Ecker-Ruplin home at 808 South 5th Street, and he was buried in Oak Grove Cemetery.50 
 
The myth of Mary (Eckel) Ruplin as the first white child born in La Crosse was thus established, if it had 
not already been ǇǊƛƻǊ ǘƻ !ŘŀƳ 9ŎƪŜƭΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ. Was this an honest mistake or misinterpretation by a 
reporter, or was it a false belief or a false representation by the family? Mary (Miller) Parry, by this time 
in late middle age and living in California for nearly all of her life, was most likely not aware of the Eckel 
or Ruplin families in La Crosse, Wisconsin.  
 
Mary Eckel joined her husband in Oak Grove Cemetery six years after his death in 1905. She died at the 
age of 83 on April 29, 1911, at 412 South 4th Street. She had lived with her daughter, Mary (Eckel) 
RuplinΣ ŀƴŘ aŀǊȅΩǎ ƘǳǎōŀƴŘΣ WŀŎƻōΣ the last six years of her life.51 
 

 
 

The Eckel gravestone in Oak Grove Cemetery 
 

(Photo courtesy of La Crosse Area Genealogical Society; Find a Grave website) 
 
Mary Eckel had wed 28-year-old Jacob Ruplin on August 24, 1871, when she was 19 years old. They 
would have six children together: Karl, Emma, Will, Arthur, Walter, and Fred.52 
 
Jacob Ruplin was born in 1843 in Schaffhausen, Switzerland, in 1843. He took up the trade of cabinet 
making. When he was 23 years old, Ruplin came to the United States. He worked briefly in Washington, 
D.C., from 1866 until the spring of 1867, when he moved to La Crosse. He initially made his living in La 
Crosse as a contractor and builder.53 ¢ƘŜ мусс Ŏƛǘȅ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊȅ ǎƘƻǿǎ ŀ άWŀŎƪ wǳǇƭŜƴέ (sic) who is a cabinet 
maker for Tillman Brothers furniture company.54 
 
In 1880, Jacob and Mary Ruplin were living at the northeast corner of 12th and Division streets.55 
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Jacob John Ruplin 
 

(La Crosse Tribune, 1915 May 21, page 7) 
 
By 1884, their address was shown as 421 South 12th Street. Jacob was working as a pattern maker for 
the John James & Co.56 This business was located at the southeast corner of Front and King streets---
άDƻƻŘǎ ƻŦ ŀƭƭ ŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴǎ ƳŀƴǳŦŀŎǘǳǊŜŘ ŀƴŘ ŦǳǊƴƛǎƘŜŘΦέ57 
 
They had moved to 1222 Madison Street by 1888.58 The city directory in 1890 shows Jacob Ruplin living 
at that address and still employed as a pattern maker.59 
 
Sometime in 1890, Jacob and Mary Ruplin moved to Duluth, Minnesota, where they lived for about five 
years.60 In ŀ мфон ƛƴǘŜǊǾƛŜǿΣ aŀǊȅ wǳǇƭƛƴ ǎŀƛŘΣ άLƴ муфмΣ ōŜŎŀǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƭƭƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ Ƴȅ ƘǳǎōŀƴŘΣ L 
ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘŜŘ ǿŜ ǎǘŀǊǘ ŀ ōŀƪŜǊȅΦ ²Ŝ ŘƛŘΣ ŀƴŘ ƛǘ ƛǎ ǎǘƛƭƭ ƛƴ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ōȅ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ƻǳǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΦέ61 Perhaps 
they started a bakery in Duluth, and Mary was referring to when the family started in the bakery 
business. 
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When they returned to La Crosse in 1895, Jacob and Mary bought /ƘǊƛǎǘƛŀƴ .ŀȅŜǊΩǎ bakery at 4th and 
King streets.62 Lǘ ǿŀǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘǿŜǎǘ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊǎŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƭƛǾŜŘ ƛƴ άŀƴ ŀŘƧƻƛƴƛƴƎ 
ƘƻǳǎŜΦέ63 
 
Under their ownership, the business was so successful that they built a new bakery building in 1900 at 
412 South 4th Street. They lived in a house next door to the bakery, at 414 South 4th Street.64 That house 
was already on the 171-foot-by-60-foot lot when they purchased the property, and the house was 
moved a short distance to the south to make room for the new bakery building. Members of the Ruplin 
family lived on the second floor of the bakery building too.65 
 
In the early years, the Ruplin Bakery sold bread and pastries throughout the city. Bakers worked from 6 
p.m. to 5 a.m. At 5:30 a.m., a horse-drawn wagon was loaded and sent out into the city where the baked 
goods were transferred to carts operated by delivery boys. When the boys came by ringing their bells, 
housewives walked out to the carts to make their selections. In 1911, the company purchased its first 
car, for a little over $1,000, to expedite deliveries to the north side of the city. William Ruplin drove the 
car, which had a top speed of just 15 miles per hour. The retail store at the bakery was open from 6 a.m. 
to 9 p.m. every day of the week. The second ward school was just north of the bakery, and children 
eagerly bought rolls for 10 cents a dozen or two cookies for a penny.66 
 

 
 


